



30<sup>th</sup> November 2011

# Constitution



As amended 25th June 2007

## Contents

1.	Interpretation.....	3
2.	Name.....	3
3.	Objects .....	3
4.	Powers.....	4
5.	Income and Property .....	4
6.	Registered Office .....	4
7.	Membership.....	4
8.	Application for Membership.....	5
9.	Membership Register.....	5
10.	Affiliation Fees.....	5
	a.    Joining Fee .....	5
	b.    Annual Affiliation Fee.....	5
11.	General Meeting.....	6
12.	Place of Meetings .....	6
13.	Notice of Meetings .....	6
14.	Notice of Meetings .....	6
15.	Quorum and General Meetings .....	6
16.	Chairperson at Meetings .....	7
17.	Adjournments .....	7
18.	Voting at Meetings .....	7
19.	Postal Votes .....	7
20.	Proxies.....	7
21.	Voting when Subscription in Arrears .....	7
22.	Order of Business at Annual General Meetings.....	7
23.	Minutes of Meetings.....	8
24.	Committee .....	8
25.	Nomination and Election of Committee Members .....	8
26.	Office Bearers and Duties.....	9
	a.    President.....	9
	b.    Senior Vice President .....	9
	c.    Male Vice President and Female Vice President.....	9
	d.    Secretary.....	9
	e.    Treasurer .....	9
27.	Management.....	9
28.	Powers of the Committee.....	10
29.	Vacancy on the Committee .....	10
30.	Duty of Committee .....	10
31.	Vacation of Office .....	10
32.	Casual Vacancies.....	10
33.	Removal of Committee Person .....	11
34.	Validation of the Acts of the Committee.....	11
35.	Minutes .....	11
36.	Audit.....	11
37.	The Auditor .....	11
38.	Casual Vacancy .....	11
39.	List of Books .....	11
40.	Auditor Reports .....	11
41.	Common Seal .....	11
42.	Logo Design.....	12
43.	Accounts .....	12
44.	Authorised Signatures.....	12
45.	Financial Year .....	12
46.	Alteration of Rules .....	12
47.	Dissolution .....	12

48.	Disposition of Assets.....	12
49.	Liability of Members .....	13
	Attachment A: Proxy Form .....	14
	Attachment B: Nomination Form .....	15
	Bylaws of the Papua New Guinea Golf Association.....	16
1.	Professional Golf .....	16
2.	Professional Golfer Membership.....	16
3.	Application for Membership.....	16
	First. Financial Members of Recognised Professional Golfers’ Associations.....	16
	Second.Papua New Guinean Applicants .....	16
	Third. Membership Rules and Regulations .....	17
	Fourth. Membership Category.....	17
4.	Financial Year .....	17
5.	PGA Tournaments.....	17
6.	PNGGA Standards & Code of Conduct.....	18
	First. Dress Standards.....	18
	Second.Code of Conduct.....	18
	Application for Membership: Professional Golfer Affiliate .....	20

# RULES OF THE PAPUA NEW GUINEA GOLF ASSOCIATION Inc.

(As amended June 25, 2007)

## 1. Interpretation

In these Rules unless inconsistent with the context or subject matter:

- a. "Annual Meeting" means an Annual General Meeting of the Association, and shall be a meeting of the Council;
- b. "Association" means the PAPUA NEW GUINEA GOLF ASSOCIATION Inc.;
- c. "Council" means the Office Bearers together with one Club Delegate from each affiliated Club. (The Council specifically excludes Zone Delegates notwithstanding a Zone Delegate may hold the position of Club Delegate. Club Delegates shall be notified by the respective Clubs to the Secretary in writing immediately prior to the opening of a General Meeting).
- d. "Committee" means the Office Bearers together with the Zone Delegates, for the time being of the Association duly elected pursuant to Article 25 of this Constitution and present at a duly constituted meeting of the Committee;
- e. "General Meeting" shall include Annual Meeting and Extra-ordinary General Meeting;
- f. "Member" means Golf Clubs throughout Papua New Guinea and affiliated to the Association;
- g. "Month" means a calendar month;
- h. "Secretary" means the Secretary of the Association;
- i. "Treasurer" means the Treasurer of the Association;
- j. "Zones" means and comprises the following: the Papuan, Madang/Sepik, Morobe, Islands and Highlands, and any other Zone as may be determined and approved at an Annual General Meeting;
- k. "Zone Delegates" means a person elected by the **Members of that zone** at an Annual General Meeting to represent that Zone; (A Zone Delegate may be elected by a majority of members if the members within that zone fail to elect their delegate)
- l. Words importing the singular number include the plural and vice versa and words importing one gender shall include all other genders;
- m. Headings and marginal notes are for reference purposes only.

## 2. Name

- a. The name of the Association is the **PAPUA NEW GUINEA GOLF ASSOCIATION Inc.**
- b. The short form of address shall be **PNG Golf Inc.**

## 3. Objects

- a. The objects of this Association shall be to:
  - i. Promote interest in the game of golf; to protect the mutual interests of its members;
  - ii. Establish and enforce uniformity in the Rules of the game by creating a representative authority
  - iii. Establish a uniform system of handicapping and par-rating of courses; to decide on which courses the Association's tournaments shall be played;
  - iv. Arrange for inter-club pennant matches;
  - v. Regulate the dates for tournaments held by various clubs at which affiliated Clubs are invited to compete;
  - vi. Conduct investigations and research work in connection with improvement of golf courses;
  - vii. Affiliate with any Golf associations;
  - viii. Obtain international recognition for the Association;

- ix. Arrange for participation by the Association in International golfing events;
- x. Engage and employ professional and other services.
- b. In fixing dates for such tournaments for Affiliated Clubs, due regard shall be made to the wishes of such Clubs in respect thereto and no date shall be fixed for any Club's tournament without the consent of such Club.
- c. To apply its profits (if any) or other income of the Association in promoting its objects;
- d. To do all such other things as are incidental or conducive to the attainment of the objects of the Association.

## 4. Powers

In addition to any others powers conferred by law, the Association shall have the following powers:

- a. To purchase, take on lease or in exchange, hire or otherwise acquire and maintain any real or personal property and any rights and privileges in relation thereto;
- b. To sell, exchange, lease, mortgage, hire, dispose of or turn to account or otherwise deal with all or any part of the real and personal property of the Association;
- c. To borrow, raise or secure the payment of money in such manner as the Association thinks fit with power to issue debentures, grant mortgages, charges or any other class of security upon or charging all or any of the properties real or personal howsoever or wheresoever situated and both present and future of the Association and to redeem or pay off any existing or future security;
- d. To invest and deal with the monies of the Association not immediately required for the purpose of the Association in such manner as may from time to time be determined by the Committee;
- e. To amalgamate, co-operate, affiliate and enter into reciprocal arrangements with any other Association having objects wholly or in part similar to those of the Association;
- f. To appoint, employ and pay officers and servants and to dismiss or suspend any officer or servant;
- g. To do all such other things as are incidental or conducive to the attainment of its Objects.

## 5. Income and Property

- a. The funds of the Association are to be derived from subscriptions paid by members of the Association, from the raising of such monies as the Association may be empowered to raise and from any other source as may be from time to time approved by the Association.
- b. The income and property of the Association however derived shall be applied solely towards the promotion of the objects of the Association and no portion thereof shall be paid or transferred directly or indirectly as a dividend or otherwise howsoever by way of profit to the Members provided that remuneration may be paid in good faith to officers and servants of the Association and other persons for goods supplied or services actually rendered to the Association and further the Committee in its absolute discretion may make ex gratia payments for the purposes of the Association and such payments shall not be construed as being by way of a distribution of profits.

## 6. Registered Office

- a. The office of the Association shall be located at such place within Papua New Guinea as the Committee may from time to time resolve.
- b. Notices to be served on the Association may be served by:
  - i. Leaving such notices addressed to the Association;
  - ii. Forwarding such notices addressed to the Association by prepaid registered mail in Papua New Guinea.

## 7. Membership

The Association shall consist of all the affiliated Golf Clubs in Papua New Guinea.

## 8. Application for Membership

- a. Application for admission to Membership of the Association (the "Application") shall be:
  - i. In writing addressed to the Secretary in such form as may be prescribed by the Committee from time to time;
  - ii. Accompanied by such payment in favour of the Association as prescribed by the Committee from time to time as the subscription for Membership to which admission is sought; and
  - iii. Delivered to the Association in accordance with the Constitution for delivery of notices to the Association.
- b. Upon receipt of the Application the Secretary shall:
  - i. Forward acknowledgement of receipt of same to the office-bearers of the club named as applicant therein and;
  - ii. If reasonably possible, prior to the next meeting of the Committee, forward notice of the Application to all Members and request Members objections to the Application.
- c. A meeting of the Committee shall:
  - i. Consider the Applications together with relevant objections of Members as have been received by the Association;
  - ii. Resolve either to accept or reject an Application.
- d. The Secretary shall maintain a Register of Members and shall notify each applicant of the Committee decision on that applicant's Application and record the name of each successful applicant in the Register of Members.
- e. The Committee may require an applicant for membership to attend before it and provide such further information or to produce documents as the Committee sees fit prior to resolving on a relevant Application.
- f. The Secretary shall provide every successful applicant with a copy of the Constitution of the Association and any by-laws made thereunder.
- g. A Member may not transfer the rights and privileges of membership of the Association.
- h. A full member of an Affiliated Club shall upon transfer from one Club to another Affiliated Club, be admitted to membership of the new Club, subject to its rules of election without the payment of nomination fee and shall be accepted as a financial member up to the time his subscription would have become due in his former Club, such reciprocal rights shall not apply to transfers between member Clubs of the Association which are situated within 50 kilometres of each other. Should the fee at the former Club be less than the fee of the new Club, the transferring member shall meet the difference in fees, pro-rata throughout the financial year.
- i. A member transferring to a Club under the a foregoing reciprocal arrangements shall not be subject to any waiting list and his application shall be dealt with immediately, but subject to the rules of election of the new Club.
- j. Upon the member being accepted by the new Club under the reciprocal arrangement, he shall automatically cease to be a member of his former Club.

## 9. Membership Register

The Secretary shall keep and maintain a register of Members in which shall be entered the full names, addresses and date of admission of every Member and further, the Secretary shall also keep and maintain a record of the financial status of such Members.

## 10. Affiliation Fees

### a. Joining Fee

A one off Joining Fee for a Club accepted into affiliation of the Association shall be payable at the rate to be determined at the Annual General Meeting of the Association annually, together with an Annual Affiliation Fee as set out in paragraph (b) below.

### b. Annual Affiliation Fee

Clubs shall collect for and on behalf of the Association a non-refundable annual affiliation fee for each and every Member of the Affiliated Golf Club, at a rate determined at the Annual General Meeting of the Association in and for each year, and forward same to the Secretary within one calendar month of the Clubs Annual Fees being due, together with a full list of members for which affiliation fees have been collected. Clubs shall update the membership listing and forward additional Affiliation fees, as determined above, at three monthly intervals throughout the year.

## 11. General Meeting

- a. The Annual Meeting of the Association shall be held every year but no later than the 30<sup>th</sup> of June in each year, provided that exceptional circumstances agreed to by a majority of the Committee may vary this date. The Annual General Meeting shall be a meeting of the Council.
- b. The Secretary shall whenever required by the Committee or by written requisition of not less than thirty per centum (30%) of Members of the Association stating the objects, for which the meeting is desired, convene an Extra-ordinary General Meeting of Members. Such meeting shall be convened not less than fourteen days or more than one month after receipt by the Secretary of such request.

## 12. Place of Meetings

Every General Meeting shall be held at a location determined by the Committee.

## 13. Notice of Meetings

Fourteen days' notice in writing of every General Meeting shall be forwarded to every Member at its address appearing in the Register of Members by prepaid post or by delivery of notice stating the time of the meeting and the nature of the business to be transacted. No business other than that set out in the notice convening the meeting shall be transacted at any General Meeting. Any Member desiring to bring forward any business may give notice thereof in writing to the Secretary who thereupon shall include same in the Notice calling the next General Meeting to be called after receipt of such Notice from a Member.

## 14. Notice of Meetings

Subject to Rule 15

- a. The Committee shall meet together for the dispatch of business, as often as the President or in his absence the Secretary shall deem necessary but not less than four times per annum. The Committee may adjourn and otherwise regulate its meetings, as it thinks fit.
- b. A quorum of members of the Committee shall be three members present throughout the relevant meeting provided that Clause 17 is adhered to.
- c. At every meeting of the Committee the President, and in his absence the Vice President, , and in his absence the Executive Director shall preside and in the absence of any of the three, the Members present shall choose one of their number to be Chairperson of such meeting.
- d. Questions arising at any meetings of the Committee shall be decided by a majority of votes and in the case of any equality of votes, the Chairperson should have a casting vote.
- e. No matter of substance shall be determined where that any two of the President, the Senior Vice President or the Male or Female Vice Presidents are not present.

## 15. Quorum and General Meetings

At all General Meetings twenty per centum (20%) of the Members shall constitute a quorum. If within thirty minutes from the time appointed for the meeting a quorum is not present, the meeting if convened upon the requisition of members shall be dissolved. In any other case, the meeting shall stand adjourned to the same day in the next week and the same time and place and at such adjourned



meeting those present shall form a quorum for all purposes. A quorum shall include proxy votes.

## 16. Chairperson at Meetings

The President, and in his absence, the Vice President, and in their absence, the Male or Female Vice Presidents, shall preside as Chairperson at every General Meeting of the Association and in their collective absences the meeting shall be adjourned until further notice.

## 17. Adjournments

The Chairperson may, with the consent of the General Meeting, adjourn any meeting from time to time, but no business shall be transacted at any adjourned meeting other than the business left unfinished at the meeting at which the adjournment took place.

## 18. Voting at Meetings

- a. All Members present at a General Meeting or Extra-ordinary Meeting shall have one vote each; (refer to definitions – “Council”).
- b. Incumbent Office Bearers shall have one vote each at all Meetings.
- c. Subject to the next succeeding sub-clause, resolutions shall be carried by a majority of the Members and Office Bearers present either in person or by duly authorised in writing representative at any General Meeting. In the case of equality of votes, the Chairperson shall have a casting vote.
- d. Subject to Article 20 a Member may vote by proxy on any matter at a General Meeting. Proxy votes shall be directed to the Chairman of the Meeting and shall be in the hands of the Secretary no later than immediately prior to the Meeting being opened.

## 19. Postal Votes

Postal Votes shall not be acceptable.

## 20. Proxies

Subject to Rule 21 every Member shall be entitled to one vote at every General Meeting and may appoint the Chairman to vote on his behalf by proxy which shall be deposited with the Secretary prior to the meeting in respect of which the proxy is appointed. The standard “Proxy Form” (Attachment A to this Constitution) shall be used for all proxy votes.

## 21. Voting when Subscription in Arrears

No Member shall be entitled to vote at any meeting of the Association unless all monies properly due from it to the Association shall have been paid.

## 22. Order of Business at Annual General Meetings

The following shall be the order of business at every Annual Meeting:

- a. **Minutes**  
Confirmation of the minutes of the last Annual Meeting and of any General Meeting or meetings held since the preceding Annual Meeting;
- b. **Reports**
  - i. The President's Report;
  - ii. The Male or Female Vice Presidents' Report;
  - iii. The Treasurer's Report in relation the annual balance sheet profit and loss and accompanying accounts of the Association;



- iv. The Auditor's Report; and
- v. Any other Reports.
- c. Election of the Committee;
- d. Appointment of an auditor (who shall be a qualified accountant); and
- e. Other business as set out in the printed agenda.

## 23. Minutes of Meetings

Minutes of all Meetings of the Association shall be entered and kept in a minute book and such minutes when so signed by the President shall be conclusive evidence that the proceedings minuted therein were regular and actually took place as minuted at a Meeting duly convened and held and shall be binding on all Members of the Association except as to any irregular proceedings declared and annulled at a General Meeting called for that purpose and held within three months after the irregular proceedings.

## 24. Committee

- a. The Committee of the Association shall consist of:
  - i. the President;
  - ii. the Senior Vice President;
  - iii. one Male Vice President;
  - iv. one Female Vice President;
  - v. the Secretary;
  - vi. the Treasurer; and
  - vii. Zone Delegates representing each of the Zones.
- b. The "Office Bearers" (President, Vice President, Male Vice President, Female Vice President, Secretary and Treasurer) shall be elected for a period of two consecutive years, alternating as follows:-
  - i. The President, Male Vice President and the Secretary shall hold office for the first two year term;
  - ii. The Senior Vice President, the Female Vice President and the Treasurer shall commence their two year term one year after the commencement of the two year term of the President, Male Vice President and Secretary.
- c. Each Committee Member shall retire at the conclusion of their two year term at the Annual Meeting and be eligible for re-election.
- d. Elections for the Committee shall be held at the Annual General Meeting.

## 25. Nomination and Election of Committee Members

- a. A Member wishing to nominate for a position on the Committee of the Association shall forward details of their nomination in the prescribed Form to be received by the Secretary seven clear days before the Annual Meeting. The Form shall be distributed by the Secretary upon request by any Member and must, when returned to the Secretary, be signed by the nominee and two other Members supporting the nomination.
- b. The Secretary shall advise all Members of all nominations received within a reasonable time prior to the Annual Meeting.
- c. If the Secretary notifies the Members at an Annual Meeting that no nominations were received for all or a particular position on the Committee the Members present may by ordinary resolution decide to accept verbal nominations from amongst themselves.
- d. The election of the Members of the Committee shall be by ballot and the Members so elected shall hold office from the conclusion of the Meeting at which they were elected.
- e. In the event of candidates for Committee membership receiving an equal number of votes, the Chairperson shall have a casting vote.

## 26. Office Bearers and Duties

### a. President

The President shall preside over all Meetings of the Association and shall be an ex officio member of any sub-committee established by the Committee. The President shall certify the correctness of minutes of meetings and with the Treasurer shall draw and sign all cheques, drafts, bills of exchange, promissory notes and other documents for and on behalf of the Association unless otherwise resolved by the Association. The President shall diligently pursue the goals of the Association.

### b. Senior Vice President

The Senior Vice President shall assist the President in achieving the goals of the Association:

- i. In the absence of the President he shall act as Chairman at any meeting of the Association;
- ii. In the absence of the President with the Treasurer shall draw and sign all cheques, drafts, bills of exchange, promissory notes and other documents for and on behalf of the Association unless otherwise resolved by the Association.

### c. Male Vice President and Female Vice President

The Male Vice President and Female Vice President shall assist the President in achieving the goals of the Association. In conjunction with the Match Committee of the host Club, he shall be responsible for supervising the organisation of the Associations' major Tournaments, being:

- i. Papua New Guinea (PNG) Open Amateur Championships
- ii. PNG National Foursomes
- iii. PNG National Mixed Foursomes
- iv. PNG Open
- v. South East Asia Amateur Teams Golf Championship
- vi. South Pacific Games
- vii. Mini South Pacific Games
- viii. Other events as determined from time to time by the Committee.

### d. Secretary

- i. The Secretary shall assist the President.
- ii. The Secretary shall be responsible for the compilation and safekeeping of minutes of all meetings, the maintenance of a Register of Members of the Association and of the officials and Committee members.
- iii. The Secretary shall attend to all general correspondence and shall have the custody of all books, documents and securities of the Association.
- iv. The Secretary shall be responsible for the timely distribution of Meeting Minutes and such other notices, newsletters and similar as directed by the President within fourteen days of any such meeting or direction.

### e. Treasurer

The Treasurer shall be responsible for the collection of and banking and accounting of all funds of the Association and shall supervise and maintain the keeping of full and proper accounts of the Association. The Treasurer shall arrange for the accounts to be audited and presented to the Annual General Meeting.

## 27. Management

The business of the Association shall be managed by the Committee who may exercise all powers of the Association as are conferred by this Constitution and as required to be exercised by the Association in a General Meeting.

## 28. Powers of the Committee

Without prejudice to the powers conferred by the last preceding Article, the Committee shall have power to do any one or more of the following things:

- a. To determine from time to time the conditions on which and times when Members may use the property of the Association or any part or parts thereof;
- b. To appoint officials or employ persons to carry out the functions of the Association and to remove them as occasion may require;
- c. To delegate (subject to such conditions as it thinks fit) any of its powers to sub-committees consisting of such Members of the Committee and other Members of the Association co-opted for that purpose as it may determine and to make such regulations as to the proceedings of such sub-committee as may be thought desirable;
- d. To regulate and control Committee meetings and the transaction of business thereat;
- e. To pay to any servant of the Association any gratuity for faithful and diligent service as it seems fit;
- f. To elect or vote on the election of Full Members and Honorary Members;
- g. To appoint from time to time any two or more Members of the Association (at least one of whom shall be a member of the Committee) to be a sub-committee for any particular purpose and to revoke their appointment;
- h. Subject to these Rules, to draw, make, accept, endorse and issue negotiable securities or instruments of whatsoever kind or nature and to determine by what officers of the Association such negotiable securities or instruments shall be signed or endorsed.
- i. To borrow or raise financial accommodation with or without giving security and to sell and dispose of the assets of the Association.
- j. To establish age limitations for participation in the Associations events – viz.
  - i. Junior members shall be a minimum of twelve years of age and a maximum of eighteen years of age at the date a tournament commences;
  - ii. Seniors shall be a minimum of forty five years of age at the date a tournament commences, and,
  - iii. Veterans shall be a minimum of fifty years of age, at the date a tournament commences.

## 29. Vacancy on the Committee

The Committee may in matters or circumstances of urgency act notwithstanding any vacancy in their body.

## 30. Duty of Committee

It shall be the duty of the Committee to manage and conduct the affairs of the Association faithfully and diligently.

## 31. Vacation of Office

The office of any Member of the Committee shall be vacated if the office holder:

- a. Shall cease to be a Member of the affiliated Clubs of the Association, or
- b. Shall hold any office of profit from the Association, or
- c. Shall become insolvent or assign his estate pursuant to any Act or Regulation relating to insolvency for the time being in force in Papua New Guinea, or
- d. Shall fail to attend three consecutive meetings without leave of the Committee.

## 32. Casual Vacancies

Any financial member of an affiliated Club may be appointed by the Committee to fill any casual vacancy occurring in the Committee provided that any person so appointed shall hold office only until the next Annual Meeting.

### 33. Removal of Committee Person

The Association in a General Meeting or Extra-ordinary General Meeting called for that purpose, may by resolution remove any Committee person before the expiration of that person's period of office and appoint another person. The person so appointed shall hold office until the next Annual Meeting or when removed by a resolution of a General Meeting.

### 34. Validation of the Acts of the Committee

All acts done at any meeting of the Committee shall (notwithstanding that it is afterwards discovered there was some defect in the appointment of the Committee or any member thereof or that any member was disqualified), be as valid as if every such member had been properly appointed and was qualified to act as a Committee person (notwithstanding the foregoing).

### 35. Minutes

The Committee shall cause to be kept a minute book showing the resolutions proposed and passed and all other proceedings at Committee meetings.

### 36. Audit

At least once in each year all the accounts of the Association shall be examined by the Auditor appointed under these Rules who shall also certify to their correctness and submit them to the Annual Meeting.

### 37. The Auditor

The Auditor shall be appointed at each Annual Meeting in accordance with Rule 23 of these Rules and may be removed from office by a resolution of three-quarters of the Members passed at a General Meeting.

### 38. Casual Vacancy

A qualified accountant appointed by the Committee for that purpose shall fill any casual vacancy occurring in the office of Auditor.

### 39. List of Books

The Association through the Treasurer shall deliver to the Auditor a list of all books of account and records kept by the Association and the Auditor shall at all reasonable times have access to the books and accounts of the Association. The Auditor may employ persons to assist him in investigating such accounts and may in relation to such accounts examine the Committee or any employee of the Association.

### 40. Auditor Reports

The Auditor shall report to the Members at the Annual General Meeting and in every such report shall state whether in his opinion all the accounts of the Association are true and correct.

### 41. Common Seal

The Common Seal of the Association (the "Common Seal") shall bear the words "**COMMON SEAL OF PAPUA NEW GUINEA GOLF ASSOCIATION INC.**" and the Secretary shall keep a record of all documents to which the seal shall be affixed. The Common Seal shall be used only by authority of the Committee

and every instrument to which the Common Seal is affixed shall be signed by two members of the Committee or two persons appointed by the Committee for that purpose.

## 42. Logo Design

The Association shall register for its own and sole use, a designed logo depicting the Association. The Association shall have sole rights to reproduction of such registered logo and may only permit the use of such by other parties by a Committee decision and in any such undertaking the Association shall have right to claim monetary compensation for such use, as may be determined by the Committee from time to time.



## 43. Accounts

The President and/or the Treasurer shall by initialling all accounts certify to their correctness both as to the quantity of goods or services received and the price charged and all accounts shall be passed for payment by the Committee and paid by cheque drawn in accordance with Article 45.

## 44. Authorised Signatures

The President and Treasurer shall be authorised to draw, make, accept, endorse and issue negotiable securities or instruments of whatsoever kind or nature and in their absence the Secretary and one Committee person shall be authorised to sign or endorse any such instruments. All cheques shall have at least two signatures affixed thereto.

## 45. Financial Year

The financial year of the Association shall commence on the 1<sup>st</sup> of January and shall end on 31<sup>st</sup> of December in any calendar year.

## 46. Alteration of Rules

No object, power or rule of the Association shall be repealed or amended and no new object, power or rule shall be made except upon a resolution carried by a majority of three-quarters of the Members present and voting at a General Meeting the Notice of which shall have set out the extent of the proposed repeal or amendment. Subject to any approval required under the Association Incorporation Act Chapter 142 of the Revised Laws of Papua New Guinea, any alteration or amendment shall come into force immediately upon the passing of the relevant resolution.

## 47. Dissolution

The Association may be dissolved or wound up by a resolution at any General Meeting called for such purpose.

## 48. Disposition of Assets

If upon the dissolution or winding up of the Association there remain after the satisfaction of all its debts

and liabilities, any property whatsoever, they shall not be paid to or distributed among the Members of the Association but shall be given or transferred to some other Association, Club or Institution having objects similar, wholly or in part, to the objects of the Association.

## 49. Liability of Members

The liability of Members upon the dissolution or winding up of the Association shall be limited to the extent of their contributions to the Association.

----- § -----



## Papua New Guinea Golf Association Inc.

### Proxy Form

We, the  Golf Club, herein  
 allocate to the Chairman of the  meeting, our proxy vote to:

Note: Strike out any two of (a), (b) or (c) and complete the remaining sections

**(a) Vote in the following manner:**

*At the election of Office Bearers*

<b>PRESIDENT</b>	<input type="text"/>
<b>SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT</b>	<input type="text"/>
<b>MALE VICE PRESIDENT</b>	<input type="text"/>
<b>FEMALE VICE PRESIDENT</b>	<input type="text"/>
<b>SECRETARY</b>	<input type="text"/>
<b>TREASURER</b>	<input type="text"/>
<b>AUDITOR</b>	<input type="text"/>

*At the election of our Zone Delegate:*

**Zone Delegate**

*In the matter of Notice of Motion(s):*

\_\_\_\_\_  
 \_\_\_\_\_

(Attach additional signed notes as required on this item)

**(b) As the Chairman deems necessary for an in the best interests of this Club**

**(c) Our Delegates to the meeting are:**

and

Who shall exercise our right to vote on all matters at this meeting

**Signed**  **Date**

**Print Name**  **Position**

**For and on behalf of:**  **Golf Club**





## Papua New Guinea Golf Association Inc.

### Nomination Form

We, the President, Vice President, Secretary, Treasurer and

(Strike out above or add position to leave two authorised nominations)

of the

Golf Club

herein nominate the following person(s) for the position(s) shown hereunder:

<b>PRESIDENT</b>	<input type="text"/>
<b>SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT</b>	<input type="text"/>
<b>MALE VICE PRESIDENT</b>	<input type="text"/>
<b>FEMALE VICE PRESIDENT</b>	<input type="text"/>
<b>SECRETARY</b>	<input type="text"/>
<b>TREASURER</b>	<input type="text"/>
<b>AUDITOR</b>	<input type="text"/>
<b>At the election of our Zone Delegate:</b>	
<b>Zone Delegate</b>	<input type="text"/>

Signed

Date

Print Name

Position

Signed

Date

Print Name

Position

For and on behalf of:

Golf Club

# Bylaws of the Papua New Guinea Golf Association

## 1. Professional Golf

In an endeavour to provide golfing opportunity to Papua New Guinean and other resident and non-resident international experienced golfers to participate in competition once they have succeeded as Amateurs the PNGGA hereby establishes the “Professional Golfer Affiliates of the Papua New Guinea Golf Association”.

## 2. Professional Golfer Membership

Membership to the “Professional Golfer Affiliates of the Papua New Guinea Golf Association” (hereinafter referred to as “**PGA of PNG**”) shall be open to the following persons under the noted conditions and restrictions hereinafter determined:

- a. Members of Professional Golfers’ Associations recognized by the PNGGA.
- b. Members of Ladies Professional Golfers’ Associations recognized by the PNGGA.
- c. Papua New Guinean golfers who qualify under the requirements noted under Section 3, Part II - Application for Membership.

## 3. Application for Membership

### First. Financial Members of Recognised Professional Golfers’ Associations

- a. The Application form is to be completed and returned to the Secretary of the PNGGA together with all documentation requirements as set out in the Application form.
- b. Payment of PNG K100 non-refundable deposit is to be lodged with the application form.
- c. Within one calendar month of receipt the applicant will be advised of the outcome of the application:
  - i. If successful an annual fee of PNG K50 will become payable and upon receipt the applicant will be admitted as a financial member of the PGA of PNG;
  - ii. If unsuccessful the applicant shall be notified in writing either electronically or by hard copy posted.

### Second. Papua New Guinean Applicants

- a. The Application form is to be completed and returned to the Secretary of the PNGGA together with all documentation requirements set out in the Application form.
- b. Payment of PNG K50 non-refundable deposit is to be lodged with the application form.
- c. Subject to completion of the following Qualification procedures the applicant shall be advised of the outcome of the application as soon as possible thereafter:
  - i. If successful an annual fee of PNG K50 will become payable and upon receipt the applicant will be admitted as a financial member of the PGA of PNG;
  - ii. If unsuccessful the applicant shall be notified in writing either electronically or by hard copy posted.
- c. Qualification procedures for PNG applicants for membership shall consist of the following minimum activities:
  - i. Show an ability to play consistently on a minimum of three PNG golf courses with an 18-hole score of a maximum of four strokes over par on each course. Consistently shall mean at least three cards are to be lodged for each of the three courses over a maximum of a six month period following application for membership, such cards are to be authorized by the Club Captain of the relative club who shall forward the score cards on behalf of the applicant to the Secretary of the PNGGA;
  - ii. Undertake an examination on the Rules of Golf as established by the R&A. Such examination

- shall be in writing in English and produced by the Secretary of the PNGGA. A success rate of at least 85% of questions to be correct shall be required and the examination shall be conducted under supervision without access to a copy of the Rules of Golf;
- iii. Applicants shall not be bankrupt, of unsound mind, under or subject to any court directive or police action.

### **Third. Membership Rules and Regulations**

Successful applicants shall be provided with a copy of the Rules and Regulations applicable to the PGA of PNG and at all times shall abide by these Rules and Regulations. Failure to abide by such or a specific breach of such shall be dealt with by the Executive of the PNGGA whose findings and determinations shall be final. Application for membership displays acquiescence to this Part.

### **Fourth. Membership Category**

There shall be three categories of PGA members:

- a. **Full-Playing Member**  
A full playing member shall be entitled to participate in tournaments open to PGA members in accordance with the nomination requirements of or for such tournaments. A full playing member shall lose full playing member status if he/she fails to achieve the qualification requirement of cards returned with a maximum of four over par on more than 50% of the rounds played in all such tournaments. To regain full playing status a member MUST again undertake play at three recognized PNG courses and submit cards as originally submitted to gain admission as a member.
- b. **Coaching Member**  
A Coaching member shall be one who has undertaken a course with an approved PGA member with at least fifteen years' experience. Such course shall be over a six month continuous period and shall entail all the facets required of coaching the game of golf. Such members may be required to pre-qualify for individual tournaments.
- c. **Club Member**  
A Club member shall be one who would normally have daily duties of employments of clubhouse/pro-shop management and/or on-course maintenance and supervision of staff. Such members may be required to pre-qualify for individual tournaments.

## **4. Financial Year**

The Financial Year for members of the PGA of PNG shall be the same as for Members of the PNGGA, from the 1<sup>st</sup> of January to 31<sup>st</sup> of December annually. Annual subscriptions as determined by the Executive Committee of the PNGGA that remain unpaid on the 31<sup>st</sup> of March of any year will automatically mean discontinuance of membership, renewal thereafter shall be as a new applicant.

## **5. PGA Tournaments**

- a. The Papua New Guinea Golf Association shall endeavour to arrange sponsors for the conducting of tournaments which will include PGA members who shall be playing for prize money independent of any prizes to be made available for Amateur members of PNGGA Affiliated Clubs.
- b. Existing tournaments conducted by either the PNGGA directly or by an affiliated Club of the PNGGA shall be accessible for PGA of PNG members in accordance with the entry requirements of those tournaments.
- c. Where any tournament conducted by the PNGGA or affiliated club is noted as "amateur only" PGA members shall not be eligible to take part in such tournaments.
- d. Where any tournament conducted by the PNGGA or affiliated club is noted as "Professional Only" amateur players shall not be eligible to take part in such tournaments.
- e. Prize monies shall be distributed in accordance with the schedule annexed hereto.

## 6. PNGGA Standards & Code of Conduct

The Papua New Guinea Golf Association has established standards of dress and behaviour that are applicable to affiliated Clubs' members who shall either be representing their Club, the PNGGA or Papua New Guinea at home or overseas at international events. Such standards will apply to amateur players and professional members alike.

### First. Dress Standards

Clubs will generally have minimum standards of dress to be followed however should these be below the standard herein set the PNGGA standard will be followed: -

- a. **Footwear:** Thongs whether rubber or leather are strictly forbidden, where "runners" or "athletic" style footwear is worn socks MUST be worn, only leather "loafers" may be worn without socks,
- b. **Shorts & Trousers:** Shorts and or trousers shall be of the tailored nature suitable for an accompanying belt. Draw string type, denim jeans, athletics type or track suit style are strictly forbidden.
- c. **Shirts & Blouses:** Strictly forbidden are round neck "T" shirts whether designer label or "give-away" type. The high round neck golf shirt of the style made popular by Tiger Woods are acceptable. Singlet's, "tube" type tops and polo shirts with excessive advertising are similarly not to be worn. The preference is for neat clean polo shirts with collars (male or female), or business style shirts.
- d. **General:** All clothing shall be neat, clean and tidy at all times and worn as intended without underwear exposed.
- e. **Headwear:** Caps, hats and similar headwear shall not be worn inside clubhouses.
- f. **Advertising:** On clothing shall be limited to the manufacturers name and where a professional is sponsored the sponsor's name and that of the professional may appear once on clothing or other golf apparel generally in accordance with the Rules of Amateurism according to the R&A adapted for sizes for professional members.

### Second. Code of Conduct

#### 1st. GENERAL PRINCIPLES APPLICABLE TO ALL MEMBERS

1. **Trustworthiness.** All members shall:
  - a. Be honest, and never deceive, cheat or steal
  - b. Have the courage to do the right thing
  - c. Work to build a good reputation
  - d. Demonstrate loyalty to family, friends, teammates, and country
2. **Respect.** All members shall:
  - a. Treat others with respect, and be considerate of the feelings of others
  - b. Demonstrate a tolerance toward differences
  - c. Use good manners, and avoid offensive language and taunting
  - d. Never slander, degrade, threaten, hurt or hit anyone and
  - e. Deal peacefully with anger, insults and disagreements
3. **Responsibility.** All members shall:
  - a. Use self-control and self-discipline
  - b. Be accountable for all choices and actions
  - c. Demonstrate reliability and
  - d. Exhibit supportive behaviour and a positive attitude
4. **Fairness.** All members shall:
  - a. Adhere to all laws, rules, policies, and guidelines
  - b. Be open-minded and demonstrate the ability to listen to others
  - c. Not pass blame carelessly
  - d. Share equitably and take turns for a particular situation as appropriate and
  - e. Never take advantage of others
5. **Caring.** All members shall:

- a. Demonstrate compassion, kindness, and forgiveness and
  - b. Provide assistance to others in need when appropriate
6. **Citizenship.** All members shall:
- a. Respect authority and demonstrate cooperation and
  - b. Properly care for all equipment, uniforms, facilities, and playing fields

2nd. **ATHLETE’S CODE OF CONDUCT**

- 1. **General.** All Athletes shall recognize that being a member of the community carries with it responsibilities and rewards, and they shall not only embrace those responsibilities, but also conduct themselves both on and off the playing field/facility in a way that exhibits respect for others and them self.
- 2. **Specific Principles.** All Athletes shall therefore resolve themselves to conduct them self with dignity as an athlete and as a citizen of the community, recognizing and accepting that they shall:
  - a. Accept accountability for all behaviour and its outcomes
  - b. Honour obligations and promises
  - c. Exercise self-control
  - d. Be willing to be fair with others in dealings on and off the playing field/facility
  - e. Take pride in themselves and their accomplishments, but never at the expense of demeaning another person or group
  - f. Respect the efforts of others
  - g. Respect authority
  - h. Play by the spirit, not just the letter, of the rules of the game and
  - i. Strive to make the community better through support and contribution as a member and as a citizen

3rd. **ENFORCEMENT OF CODE OF CONDUCT**

- 1. **Responsibility.** Responsibility for enforcement of this Code of Conduct shall reside with the Executive Committee of PNGGA.
- 2. **Spectators.** For implementation of this Code of Conduct, spectators who are directly associated with a particular Athlete shall comply with this Code.
- 3. **Enforcement Action.** The Executive Committee of PNGGA shall take whatever measures necessary to enforce this Code of Conduct, up to and including any of the following actions:
  - a. Suspension of a Member from the membership list due to his or her failure to comply with this Code of Conduct
  - b. Suspension of a member from the membership list due to the failure of his or her associated friend / spectator to comply with this Code of Conduct or
  - c. Suspension may be for a fixed period or indefinite or expulsion as determined by the Executive Committee

----- § -----

